

This is an amendment to 13.4.8 NMAC, Sections 1, 2, 3, and 7 through 13 and 15 through 17, effective 4/1/2025.

13.4.8.1 ISSUING AGENCY: Office of Superintendent of Insurance (OSI) [~~Producer Licensing Bureau (PLB)~~].
[13.4.8.1 NMAC - N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]

13.4.8.2 SCOPE: This rule applies to resident and non-resident persons seeking licensure to provide adjusting services in this state, as defined in Article 13 of Chapter 59A NMSA 1978.
[13.4.8.2 NMAC - N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]

13.4.8.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY: [~~Sections 59A-2-8, and 59A-13-1 et seq.~~] Title 59A, Chapter 13 and Section 59A-2-9 NMSA 1978.
[13.4.8.3 NMAC - N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]

13.4.8.7 DEFINITIONS: As used in this rule:

A. “Adjuster” has the meaning provided in Paragraph (1) of Subsection A of Section 59A-13-2 NMSA 1978.

B. “Advertisement” is as set forth in [~~Subsection~~] Section 19 of this rule.

C. “Business entity” has the meaning provided in Paragraph (3) of Subsection A of Section 59A-13-2 NMSA 1978.

D. “Catastrophic disaster” means an event that results in large numbers of deaths and injuries; causes extensive damage or destruction of facilities that provide and sustain human needs; produces an overwhelming demand on state and local response resources and mechanisms; causes a severe long-term effect on general economic activity; or severely affects state, local and private sector capabilities to begin and sustain response activities. For purposes of this rule, a catastrophic disaster shall be declared by the president of the United States, the governor of the state, or the superintendent of insurance.

~~[E. “Designated home state” is used when the adjuster’s home state does not license adjusters and means a state in which an adjuster does not maintain his, her, or its principal place of residence or business, but in which the adjuster is licensed in good standing and has designated as the home state for purposes of compliance with licensing regulations.]~~

E. “Designated home state” means a home state as defined in Paragraph (4) of Subsection A of Section 59A-13-2 NMSA 1978, in which the adjuster is licensed and in good standing, and that is designated by the adjuster for purposes of compliance with licensing regulations when the adjuster’s home state:

(1) does not license independent adjusters and does not restrict a staff adjuster from obtaining that license in New Mexico; or

(2) does not license staff adjusters, does not require staff adjusters to be licensed, and does not restrict staff or independent adjusters from obtaining that license in New Mexico.

F. “Equivalent” means comparable qualifications, examination or licensing criteria, or scope of duties.

~~[F] **G. “Home state”** [means the District of Columbia or any state or territory of the United States which is the principal place of residence or principal place of business for an insurance adjuster and in which the adjuster is licensed to provide services as a resident adjuster] has the same meaning as defined in Paragraph (4) of Subsection A of Section 59A-13-2 NMSA 1978.~~

~~[G] **H. “Independent adjuster”** [means an adjuster who is not a staff adjuster or a public adjuster and includes a representative or an employee of an independent adjuster. An independent adjuster is a professional who conducts investigations, verifications, negotiations, and settling of claims for or on behalf of an insurance company, a self-insured firm, or a government agency, without being under the employment of the company, firm, or agency in question.] has the same meaning as defined in Paragraph (5) of Subsection A of Section 59A-13-2 NMSA 1978.~~

~~[H] **I. “Insurance”** has the meaning set forth in Section 59A-1-5 NMSA 1978.~~

~~[I] **J. “Negotiate”** means the act of conferring directly with or offering advice directly to a person whose real or personal property is covered under a policy of insurance regarding a claim or claims for loss or damage with the objective of arriving at a settlement.~~

~~[J] **K. “Nonresident adjuster”** means an adjuster who has a current resident license in the adjuster’s~~

home state or designated home state, and who has applied for and received a nonresident adjuster's license in this state. A nonresident adjuster may be licensed only for the same type or types of adjuster's license for which the adjuster is licensed in the home state or designated home state.

~~[K] L. "Public adjuster" [means an adjuster who, for direct or indirect compensation or any other thing of value on behalf of the insured:~~

~~(1) acts or aids, investigates, negotiates, settles, adjusts, advises or otherwise assists an insured with a claim or claims for loss or damage under any policy of insurance covering the insured person's real or personal property, or on behalf of any other public insurance adjuster who is acting on behalf of an insured;~~

~~(2) advertises for employment as a public adjuster of insurance claims or solicits business or represents himself or herself to the public as an public adjuster of first party insurance claims for losses or damages arising out of policies of insurance that insure real or personal property; or~~

~~(3) directly or indirectly solicits business, investigates or adjusts losses, or advises an insured about first party claims for losses or damages arising out of policies of insurance that insure real or personal property for another person engaged in the business of adjusting losses or damages covered by an insurance policy; for the insured.] has the same meaning as defined in in Paragraph (6) of Subsection A of Section 59A-13-2 NMSA 1978.~~

~~[L] M. "Resident of the state" means an individual who maintains a principal home in New Mexico and holds no active resident insurance license in another state.~~

~~[M] N. "Resident adjuster" [means an adjuster who resides principally in New Mexico and who conducts business primarily in New Mexico or who has designated New Mexico as the home state for purposes of licensing] has the same meaning as defined in Section 59A-13-2 NMSA 1978;~~

~~[N] O. "Staff adjuster" [a person who is a salaried employee of an insurer or an affiliate of the insurer, and who is engaged in adjusting insured losses solely for that company or other companies under common control or ownership] has the same meaning as defined in Section 59A-13-2 NMSA 1978.~~

~~[O] P. "Superintendent" means the superintendent of insurance, the office of superintendent of insurance or employees of the office of superintendent of insurance acting within the scope of the superintendent's official duties and with the superintendent's authorization.~~

~~Q. "Terminate" means becomes inactive.
[13.4.8.7 NMAC - N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]~~

13.4.8.8 LICENSE REQUIRED:

A. No individual or business entity shall act as or make any representation as being an adjuster unless licensed as such by the superintendent, nor shall such person accept a commission, service fee or other valuable consideration for investigating or settling claims in New Mexico if that person is required to be licensed and is not so licensed.

B. No person, regardless of location, shall act as, or make any representation as being, an adjuster with respect to workers' compensation claims of claimants resident or located in New Mexico unless licensed as such by the superintendent. Pursuant to Section 59A-13-11 NMSA 1978, each workers' compensation insurer shall have at least one claims representative within New Mexico, licensed as an adjuster, to pay workers' compensation claims of claimants resident or located in New Mexico. Such claims shall be paid promptly through such representatives from accounts in financial institutions located within New Mexico.

C. A business entity may not be licensed as an adjuster unless at least one officer, active partner, or other managing individual of the business entity, and each individual performing acts of an insurance adjuster on behalf of the business entity in this state, are individually licensed by the superintendent separately from the business entity with the same adjuster license as the business. The business entity shall designate a licensed adjuster responsible for the business entity's compliance with the insurance laws, rules and regulations of this state.

D. Each license shall contain:
(1) the name of the insurance adjuster;
(2) the date of issuance and the date of expiration of the license; and
(3) if applicable, the name of the firm with which the insurance adjuster is employed at the time the license is issued.

E. An individual may be licensed as both an independent and staff adjuster, but must apply separately for each.

F. Each licensee who is a resident of this state or a business entity organized under the laws of this state shall:

(1) maintain a place of business in this state which shall be easily accessible to the public and is the place where the adjuster principally conducts transactions under the license;

(2) maintain in the place of business the required records; and
(3) notify the superintendent of any change in the address of the licensee's place of business within 20 days or be subject to a penalty of fifty dollars (\$50).

G. No later than 30 days after moving within a state or from one state to another state, a nonresident adjuster's licensed in this state shall file with the superintendent:

(1) the licensee's new address, and
(2) proof of authorization to act as an insurance adjuster in any new state of residence if that state requires licensure of insurance adjusters.

[13.4.8.8 NMAC - N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]

13.4.8.9 LICENSING REQUIREMENTS FOR INDIVIDUAL ADJUSTERS: The superintendent will issue, renew and continue adjuster's licenses for individual adjusters as follows:

A. Electronic submission. The individual applicant shall submit the application electronically or as otherwise directed by the superintendent.

B. Individual requirements. The superintendent shall issue an individual adjuster's license only to an individual who is otherwise in compliance with Chapter 59A, Articles 11 and 13 NMSA 1978 and who has furnished evidence satisfactory to the superintendent that the applicant for license:

(1) is not less than 18 years of age;
(2) is a bona fide resident of this state, or of a state or country that permits residents of this state to act as adjusters therein, except that under circumstances of necessity the superintendent may waive the requirement of reciprocity;
(3) is trustworthy, reliable and can demonstrate a good business reputation, and intent to engage in a bona fide manner in the business of adjusting insurance claims;
(4) has passed the examination required for licensing;
(5) shall not have committed an act that is a ground for license denial, suspension or revocation under the Insurance Code;
(6) has paid the license fee, as set forth in Section 59A-6-1 NMSA 1978; and
(7) if applying for a public adjuster license, has filed the bond as required 13.4.8.11 NMAC, or otherwise demonstrated financial responsibility, as approved by the superintendent.

C. Exceptions for staff adjuster. Paragraphs (2) and (7) of Subsection B of this section shall not apply as to staff adjusters.

D. Exceptions for prior license holders. Individuals holding licenses as adjusters as of July 1, 2017, shall be deemed to meet the qualifications for the license except as provided in Chapter 59A, Articles 11 and 13 NMSA 1978. The examination requirement is waived provided that the individual's license is not allowed to terminate through lapse, or otherwise.

E. Additional requirement for public adjusters. An applicant for a license to act as a public adjuster must, as part of the application, endorse an authorization for disclosure to the superintendent of all financial records of any funds the public insurance adjuster holds as a fiduciary using the form available on the OSI website. The authorization shall continue in force and effect while the public adjuster continues to be licensed in this state.

F. Application form.

(1) The application form may require the following information about the applicant:
(a) proof of the applicant's identity;
(b) name, date of birth, social security number, residence and business addresses, and email address;
(c) personal history;
(d) business experience, including experience, special training or education pertaining to insurance adjusters;
(e) previous licensing information, including:
(i) whether the applicant was ever previously licensed to transact insurance or adjusting in this state or elsewhere;
(ii) whether any license was ever refused, suspended or revoked;
(iii) whether any insurer or member of the public claims that the applicant is indebted to it, and if so, the details of the claim; and
(iv) whether the applicant has ever had a contract or appointment with an insurer canceled and, if so, the facts of the cancellation;
(f) type or types of adjuster's license applied for;
(g) if the applicant will be adjusting workers' compensation claims, then an in-state

physical address for the business entity;

(h) the NAIC number and name of the company holding a New Mexico certificate of authority that is sponsoring the applicant, if applicable;

(i) such other pertinent information and matters as the superintendent may reasonably require.

(2) The superintendent may require any application to be in the applicant's handwriting and under the applicant's oath.

G. Approval. Before approving an application and issuing a license, the superintendent shall confirm that:

(1) all of the applicant's answers to the questions on the application are complete, truthful and satisfactory, including acknowledgment and explanation of any prior criminal charges;

(2) if the applicant is applying for a resident license, the applicant does not currently hold an active New Mexico resident or nonresident license or an active resident license in another state;

(3) if the applicant is applying for a resident license, the applicant has provided an in-state residential or business address (a post office box does not satisfy this requirement), unless the applicant has designated New Mexico as the home state for licensing purposes only;

(4) if the applicant is applying for a nonresident license, the applicant currently holds an active resident license in another state or designated home state that requires an examination. A nonresident who has an active staff adjuster license shall qualify for an independent adjuster license upon proper application. A nonresident who has an active independent adjuster license shall qualify for a staff adjuster license upon proper application;

(5) if applying for a resident license, the applicant has passed the required examination, or if applying for a nonresident license, the applicant has passed the required examination in the applicant's home state or designated home state;

(6) the applicant has provided at least five years of employment history without gaps in the employment record;

(7) the applicant's fingerprints have been submitted for purposes of a state and federal background check, and

(a) pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1033, no individual who has been convicted of a felony involving dishonesty or a breach of trust may be licensed as a resident adjuster, unless the person has the written consent of the superintendent;

(b) pursuant to the Criminal Offender Employment Act found at Section 28-2-1 et seq. NMSA 1978, any prior criminal record shall be considered in connection with application for any license; and

(c) if the results of the background check have not been received or indicate a need for further investigation, the application will not be approved pending further review;

(8) the applicant has satisfied both the general and specific requirements and has provided any additional information necessary for the adjuster's license requested or as required by the superintendent based on the initial application answers;

(9) the applicant has submitted the application fee as set forth in Section 59A-6-1 NMSA 1978; and

(10) if the applicant for a resident license is a citizen of a foreign country, then the application shall include proof that the applicant is eligible to reside and work in the United States.

H. Requirements for nonresident applicants and licensees.

(1) A nonresident adjuster's licensee must designate the superintendent for service of process in accordance with the application requirement for nonresident licensees.

(2) Upon submission of the required application and payment of the license fee set forth in Section 59A-6-1 NMSA 1978, the superintendent may issue a nonresident license to an applicant for an adjuster's license who is not a permanent resident of this state, if the applicant is currently licensed as a resident adjuster in the applicant's home state or designated home state and the applicant satisfies all of the following:

(a) currently holds a valid adjuster's license, of the same type as the license applied for, in another state that requires a qualifying examination of sufficient scope as required by the superintendent;

(b) meets the requirements set forth in Subsection B of this section;

(c) is self-employed as an adjuster or associated with or employed by a business entity or other adjuster in the adjuster's home state or designated home state; and

(d) discloses whether the applicant has ever had any license or eligibility to hold any license declined, denied, suspended, or revoked, whether the applicant has ever been placed on probation and whether an administrative fine or penalty has been levied against the applicant and, if so, the reason for the action.

(3) Each individual who holds a nonresident license shall comply with all requirements of this rule and with other rules and laws of this state applicable to adjusters, including the requirements on record maintenance for each license type and for financial responsibility as set forth in 13.4.8.11 NMAC.

~~[(4) As a condition of doing business in this state, a nonresident adjuster shall submit an affidavit certifying that the licensee is familiar with and understands the laws set forth in Article 13 of 59A NMSA 1978, these rules, and the terms and conditions of the types of insurance contracts that provide coverage on real and personal property. The affidavit shall be provided initially and upon renewal, using the form available on the OSI website. Compliance with this filing requirement is necessary for the issuance, continuation, reinstatement, or renewal of a nonresident adjuster's license.]~~

[13.4.8.9 NMAC - N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]

13.4.8.10 LICENSING REQUIREMENTS FOR BUSINESS ENTITIES:

A. Individual licenses required. A business entity that is licensed as a public or independent adjuster, or as both, shall employ licensed individual adjusters to adjust the types of claims for which the business entity is licensed. Such individuals shall hold an adjuster's license of the same type or types as that of the business entity employer.

B. General adjuster licensing requirements for business entities. Any resident or nonresident business entity that desires a license as a public or independent adjuster ~~[, or as both,]~~ shall file a completed application or applications with the superintendent, pursuant to Sections 59A-11-3 and 59A-12-15 NMSA 1978.

(1) The business entity shall be:

- (a) organized under the laws of this state or any other state or territory of the United States;
- (b) admitted to conduct business in this state by the secretary of state, if required;
- (c) authorized by its articles of incorporation or its partnership agreement to act as a public or independent adjuster; and

and

(2) The business entity's application or applications shall:

- (a) be filed by the business entity;
- (b) be submitted electronically or as otherwise specified by the superintendent;
- (c) specify the business type as one of the following legal business types:
 - (i) partnership;
 - (ii) limited liability company (LLC);
 - (iii) limited liability partnership (LLP); or
 - (iv) corporation; but not as a
 - (v) sole proprietorship;
- (d) be accompanied by payment of fees, as follows:
 - (i) all fees required pursuant to Section 59A-6-1 NMSA 1978;
 - (ii) a bond or evidence of financial responsibility as set forth in 13.4.8.11 NMAC; and
 - (iii) an additional license application filing fee for each individual in excess of one who is to exercise the license powers of the business entity, if not a general partner therein;
- (e) designate an individual licensed adjuster who is responsible for the business entity's compliance with the insurance laws, rules and regulations of this state; and
- (f) be signed on behalf of the applicant by an authorized partner or corporate officer, under oath if required by the superintendent.

(3) If the business is a firm, then each individual who is not a bona fide general partner and who is to exercise license powers, shall file an application for the same type of adjuster's license as that applied for by the business entity.

(4) If the business is a corporation, then each individual, whether or not an officer, director, stockholder or in other relationship to the corporation, who is to exercise license powers shall file an application for the type of adjuster's license as that applied for by the business entity.

(5) If the business is a partnership, then each individual who is not a general partner and who is to exercise license powers, shall file an application for the same type of adjuster's license applied for by the business entity.

(6) The business entity shall list by name each licensed individual who is to operate under the business entity license.

C. Application form. The application form may require information about the business entity as

follows:

(1) the name, state of residence, proof of identity, business record, reputation and experience of each partner, officer, member of the board of directors and controlling stockholder of the business entity, and any additional information required of an individual applicant for an adjuster's license as the superintendent deems necessary;

(2) evidence satisfactory to the superintendent that transaction of the business proposed to be transacted under the requested license is within the powers of the business entity as set forth in the entity's articles of incorporation, charter, bylaws, partnership, operating agreement or other governing documents;

(3) at least one individual is specified as the designated responsible adjuster who is actively licensed in this state as either a resident or nonresident adjuster for each type of adjuster's license applied for by the business entity. The designated responsible licensed adjusters designated by the business entity shall cumulatively be licensed for all types of adjuster's license of the business entity; and

(4) such further information concerning the applicant, appointment of partners, corporate officers, directors and stockholders as may be requested by the superintendent.

D. Approval. The superintendent shall review the application and confirm that:

(1) the applicant meets all of the requirements set forth in Subsections B and C of this section;

(2) all answers to the questions on the application are complete, truthful and satisfactory;

(3) the applicant does not already hold an active resident or nonresident license in New Mexico or, if applying for a resident license, an active resident license in another state;

(4) the business entity has paid the fees set forth in Section 59A-6-1 NMSA 1978;

(5) the business entity application lists at least one individual as an owner, officer, partner or director;

(6) the business entity has designated a licensed adjuster responsible for the business entity's compliance with the laws of this state;

(7) the application sets forth the names of all the members, officers and directors of the business entity and the names of each individual who is to exercise the powers conferred by the license upon the business entity;

(8) the business entity license application uses the entity's legal name, unless an assumed name has been previously approved in writing by the superintendent; and

(9) at least one licensed adjuster who is to exercise license powers is affiliated by submission of an application, and the application for affiliation was submitted with payment as required in Section 59A-6-1 NMSA 1978.

E. Special licensing requirements. The following apply to business entities seeking an adjuster's license:

(1) The business entity intends to be actively engaged in the business of public or independent adjusting.

(2) No officer, director, member, manager, partner, or any other person who has the right or ability to control the license holder has:

(a) had a license suspended or revoked or been the subject of any other disciplinary action by a financial or insurance regulator of this state, another state, or the United States; or

(b) committed an act for which a license may be denied under the Insurance Code without prior authorization from the superintendent.

(3) Nothing contained in this section shall be construed to permit any unlicensed employee or representative of any business entity to perform any act of a public or independent adjuster without obtaining that type of adjuster's license.

(4) Each corporation or partnership shall notify the superintendent not later than the 30th day after the date of:

(a) a felony conviction of a licensed adjuster of the entity or any individual affiliated with the business entity; and

(b) an event that would require notification under the Insurance Code.

(5) If a licensee does not maintain the qualifications necessary to obtain the license, the superintendent shall revoke or suspend the license or deny the renewal of the license.

(6) Each adjuster shall maintain all required records, including all records relating to customer complaints received from customers and the superintendent.

F. Portable electronics. A business entity applying for an independent adjuster's license for the purposes of portable electronics insurance shall comply with the filing requirements set forth in Subsection D of

13.4.8.11 PROOF OF FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY:

A. Prior to issuance of a license as an independent or public adjuster to an individual and for the duration of the license, the applicant shall file with the superintendent a surety bond in favor of the superintendent in aggregate amount of not less than ten thousand dollars, conditioned to pay actual damages resulting to this state or any member of the public in this state from violation of law by the licensee while acting as an adjuster. The bond shall be one executed by an authorized surety insurer and offered by a producer licensed and appointed in this state.

B. A surety bond used to maintain and demonstrate proof of financial responsibility under this section shall:

(1) remain in effect for the duration of the license, or until the surety is released from liability by the superintendent, or until canceled by the surety;

(2) be in the form specified by the superintendent;

(3) be executed by the insurance adjuster as principal and a surety company authorized to do business in this state as surety;

(4) be payable to the superintendent for the use and benefit of an insured, conditioned that the insurance adjuster shall pay any final judgment recovered against it by an insured;

(5) provide that the surety will give no less than 30 days prior written notice of bond termination to the licensee and the superintendent;

(6) be separate from any other financial responsibility obligation; and

(7) not be used to demonstrate financial responsibility for any other license, certification, or person.

C. ~~[The applicant or licensee may file with the superintendent a cash bond, a professional liability policy or similar policy or contract of professional liability coverage in like amount acceptable to the superintendent, in lieu of the surety bond.~~

~~—~~**D.]** Each public ~~[or independent insurance]~~ adjuster ~~[must]~~ shall obtain separate proof of financial responsibility and may not rely on the bond of any other ~~[insurance]~~ adjuster to demonstrate proof of financial responsibility.

~~[E]~~ **D.** The superintendent may ask for ~~[the]~~ evidence of financial responsibility at any time that the superintendent deems relevant.

~~[F]~~ **E.** The authority to act as a public or independent adjuster shall automatically terminate if the evidence of financial responsibility terminates or becomes impaired.

[13.4.8.11 NMAC - N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]

13.4.8.12 EXAMINATION OF APPLICANTS:

A. Examinations required. An individual applying for a license as an adjuster shall, prior to issuance of a license, personally take and pass a written examination. The examination required by this section shall be of sufficient scope to reasonably test the applicant's:

(1) knowledge, experience or training relating to the assessment of:

(a) real and personal property values; and

(b) physical loss of or damage to real or personal property that may be the subject of insurance and claims under insurance;

(2) knowledge of the duties and responsibilities of an adjuster holding the type of adjuster's license applied for as set forth by law and regulation in this state, including ethical and fair trade practices;

(3) knowledge of basic insurance theory, the essential elements of contracts, and claims, and ethics terms and effects of the types of insurance contracts that provide coverage on real and personal property;

(4) knowledge and experience adequate to enable an adjuster holding the type of adjuster's license applied for to engage in the business as an adjuster fairly and without injury to the public or any member of the public with whom the applicant may have business as an adjuster; and

(5) technical competence in the handling of the types of claims for which the applicant is being tested.

B. Examination exemptions.

(1) Examination is not required for an individual who was licensed in this state as an adjuster prior to July 1, 2017, unless the license is allowed to lapse or is terminated for any reason, as set forth in Subsection D of 13.4.8.9 NMAC.

(2) Examination is not required for applicants who have taken and passed ~~[a similar]~~ an

equivalent examination and received the same type of adjuster's license in a state in which the reciprocal provisions of Section 59A-5-33 NMSA 1978 apply; and

(a) the license in the other state is current, or
(b) the application is received within 90 days after cancellation of the previous license ~~[If the license has been canceled and]~~ if verified records maintained by the NAIC indicate that the adjuster is or was licensed in good standing for the type of license applied for. ~~[then the following is required:~~

~~(i) a certification from the reciprocal state that at the time of cancellation the applicant was in good standing in that state; or~~

~~(ii) records maintained by the NAIC indicate that the adjuster is or was licensed in good standing for the type of license applied for.]~~

(3) Reexamination is not required for renewal or continuance of resident or designated home state licenses, unless ordered by the superintendent.

(4) Reexamination is not required for resident applicants who have been licensed in this state within the year prior to the date of the new application and who seek to be relicensed for the same types of adjuster's license. This exemption does not apply if the previous license was suspended, revoked or terminated, if continuation of the license was refused by the superintendent or if the applicant did not previously take and pass an exam in this state.

(5) Examination is not required for a nonresident applicant who is licensed by designating a home state other than the state of residence, if the state of licensure requires the passing of a written examination in order to obtain the license and is a reciprocal state.

~~[(6) Examination is not required for an applicant currently licensed as an adjuster in another state who moves to this state and applies to become a resident insurance adjuster within 90 days of establishing legal residence. For such applicants, the examination requirement is waived as to licensure for the type of adjuster's license previously held in the prior state, unless otherwise determined by the superintendent.]~~

C. Examination fee. Each individual applying for an examination shall remit a nonrefundable fee as set forth in Section 59A-6-1 NMSA 1978.

D. Administration of exams. The superintendent may contract with an outside testing service for administering examinations and collecting the nonrefundable fee.

E. Failure to appear. An individual who fails to appear for an examination as scheduled or fails to pass the examination shall reapply for an examination and remit all required fees and forms before being rescheduled for another examination.

[13.4.8.12 NMAC - N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]

13.4.8.13 CONTINUATION, NONRENEWAL, CANCELLATION, DENIAL, REVOCATION, SUSPENSION, TERMINATION AND REINSTATEMENT OF LICENSE:

A. Continuation and nonrenewal of adjuster's licenses. Unless the license is canceled, revoked, suspended or otherwise terminated, an adjuster's license is continuous, subject to payment by the due date of renewal fees as set forth in Section 59A-6-1 NMSA 1978, and for individual licensees, compliance with the continuing education requirements set forth in 13.4.7 NMAC.

(1) For resident licenses issued to individuals:

(a) Biennial renewal fees shall be paid on or before the last day of the second occurrence of the individual's birth month following issuance of the license.

(b) Continuing education requirements shall be satisfied during the 24 months immediately preceding the issuance and renewal date of the license. Additional information pertaining to continuing education requirements is set forth at 13.4.7 NMAC.

(c) An individual who is unable to comply with license renewal requirements due to military service, disability or other extenuating circumstance may request a waiver ~~[using forms available on the OSI website or as otherwise]~~ as directed by the superintendent. ~~[An adjuster in such circumstances may also request a waiver of a fine or sanction imposed for failure to comply with renewal procedures.]~~

(d) If the superintendent has reason to believe that the competence of any individual licensee is in question, the superintendent may require as a condition of continuation of the license that the individual licensee take and pass the written examination that is required for new applicants for the same license.

(e) If an adjuster's license has been expired for one year or more, the adjuster applicant must submit to reexamination. Reexamination must be completed within the 12 months preceding the application.

(2) For licenses issued to business entities:

(a) Business entity licenses shall renew and continue on a biennial basis on March 1

of the biennial year, subject to payment of fees as set forth in Section 59A-6-1 NMSA 1978.

(b) Business entity affiliations shall renew and continue on an annual basis on March 1 of every year, subject to payment of fees pursuant to Section 59A-6-1 NMSA 1978.

(3) For nonresident licenses issued to individuals:

(a) As a condition of the continuation of a nonresident adjuster's license, the licensee shall maintain a resident adjuster's license of the same type in the adjuster's home state or designated home state.

(b) The licensee shall pay the biennial renewal fees on or before the last day of the second occurrence of the individual's birth month following issuance of the license.

(c) If the licensee's home state requires continuing education substantially equivalent to that of this state as set forth in 13.4.7 NMAC for renewal of the adjuster's license and the licensee has satisfied the continuing education requirements of the home state, then the licensee may renew the nonresident adjuster's license in this state. ~~[with evidence that the licensee is compliant with the continuing education requirement of the home state.~~

~~(d) If the home state does not require continuing education, the nonresident license cannot be renewed until the licensee:~~

~~(i) completes the hours required for renewal of the New Mexico resident license by completing courses offered by a continuing education provider that have been approved by the continuing education committee in this state, or~~

~~(ii) completes equivalent continuing education requirements for license renewal for a state that the licensee has designated as the home state; and~~

~~(iii) uploads the certificates of completion electronically or as otherwise directed by the superintendent.]~~

B. Reasons for suspension, revocation or refusal to continue license. The superintendent ~~[may]~~ will suspend, revoke, or refuse to issue or renew an adjuster's license ~~[or]~~ and may levy a fine or penalty ~~[or any combination of the above actions]~~ for any one or more of the following causes:

(1) providing incorrect, misleading, incomplete or materially untrue information in the license application;

(2) violating any insurance laws, regulations, subpoena or order of the superintendent or of another state's insurance commissioner, including engaging in any unfair trade practices or fraud;

(3) obtaining or attempting to obtain a license through misrepresentation or fraud;

(4) improperly withholding, misappropriating, or converting any monies or properties received in the course of doing insurance business;

(5) intentionally misrepresenting the terms of an actual or proposed insurance contract or settlement offer;

(6) committing an illegal act that is a ground for license denial, suspension or revocation under the Insurance Code;

(7) using fraudulent, coercive or dishonest practices, or demonstrating incompetence, untrustworthiness or financial irresponsibility, in the conduct of insurance business in this state or elsewhere;

(8) having an insurance or adjuster's license probated, suspended, revoked or refused in any other state;

(9) forging another's name to any document related to an insurance transaction;

(10) cheating, including improperly using notes or any other reference material, to complete an examination for an adjuster's license;

(11) failing to comply with an administrative or court order imposing a child support obligation; ~~[or]~~

(12) termination or cancelation of evidence of financial responsibility, as set forth in 13.4.8.11 NMAC; or

~~(13) a business entity's failure to renew affiliations timely.~~

C. Termination of licenses.

(1) ~~[Adjuster's]~~ Adjuster licenses are subject to termination for any of the reasons set forth in Subsection B of 13.4.2.27 NMAC.

(2) If a nonresident adjuster's license is terminated by the home state or designated home state for any reason, the nonresident adjuster's license shall terminate immediately, unless the termination is due to the adjuster being issued a resident adjuster's license in a new home state. If there is a change in the home state, then the notice of change must include both the previous and current addresses. If the new home state does not have reciprocity with this state, the nonresident adjuster's license shall terminate.

D. Effects of suspension. While a license is suspended, the licensee shall not engage in any transaction for which the license is required, other than transfer of business that was transacted by the licensee while the license was active.

E. Application for license after suspension, denial of application, or revocation of license. Adjuster's licenses are subject to the provisions for reinstatement as set forth in Subsection C of 13.4.2.27 NMAC.

(1) An adjuster whose license is suspended by the superintendent may apply for a new license only after the expiration of the period of suspension.

(2) In the event that the action by the superintendent is to revoke or deny application for licensure or refuse renewal of an existing license, the superintendent shall notify the applicant or licensee in writing, advising of the reason for the refusal. The applicant or licensee may request a hearing to be held within 30 days.

(3) Paragraph (2) of this subsection does not apply to an applicant whose license application was denied for failure by the applicant to:

(a) pass the required written examination; or

(b) submit a properly completed license application.

F. Action against business entities. The license of a business entity may be probated, suspended, revoked, or refused if the superintendent finds, after a hearing, that its designated individual licensee's violation occurred while acting on behalf of or representing the business entity and that the violation was known or should have been known by one or more of the business entity's partners, officers or managers and that the violation was neither reported to the superintendent nor was corrective action taken.

G. Disciplinary proceeding for conduct committed before surrender or forfeiture of license. The superintendent shall retain the authority to enforce the provisions of and impose any penalty or remedy authorized by the Insurance Code against any person who is under investigation for or charged with a violation of this regulation even if the person's license has been surrendered or has expired by operation of law.

(1) The superintendent may institute a disciplinary proceeding against a former licensee for conduct that the licensee committed before the effective date of a voluntary surrender or automatic forfeiture of the license.

(2) In a proceeding under this section, the fact that the license holder has surrendered or forfeited the license does not affect the license holder's culpability for the conduct.

[13.4.8.13 NMAC – N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]

13.4.8.15 STAFF ADJUSTERS:

A. Description of staff adjusters. A staff adjuster is an employee of an insurance company whose work is to investigate, evaluate, and eventually settle a claim. In certain situations, a staff adjuster may award the claim to the insured (by writing a check ~~in~~ on behalf of the company). Evidence of financial responsibility as described in 13.4.8.11 NMAC is not required of licensed staff adjusters.

B. Powers of staff adjusters. A staff adjuster shall have only such powers with respect to claims and losses as granted by the staff adjuster's employer or affiliates of the staff adjuster's employer.

C. Appointment required. A staff adjuster must be appointed by an insurance company in order to be licensed in this state.

(1) If the appointment of a licensed staff adjuster is terminated by an insurance company for any reason, notice shall be provided to the superintendent within ~~[40]~~ 30 calendar days from the date of termination.

(2) After a staff adjuster's appointment by the insurance company is terminated, the staff adjuster's license will terminate automatically if the superintendent is not notified that the staff adjuster has been appointed by another insurance company within 30 calendar days after submission of the initial notice that the appointment has been terminated.

D. Examination requirement.

(1) Although the initial examination requirement is waived for adjusters who were licensed prior to July 1, 2017, the examination waiver is lost if the adjuster's license is terminated for any reason after July 1, 2017, including loss of the staff adjuster's appointment. Once a license is terminated and the waiver is lost, the adjuster must pass the required examination before the license will be reinstated.

(2) The applicant must pass the required examination within one year prior to applying for the license. If a staff adjuster who has passed the required examination is without an appointment or is otherwise unlicensed for more than one year, reexamination will be required before the license can be reinstated.

[13.4.8.15 NMAC - N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]

13.4.8.16 INDEPENDENT ADJUSTERS:

A. Description of independent adjusters.

(1) An independent adjuster is a professional who conducts investigations, verification, negotiations, and settling of claims for or on behalf of an insurance company, a self-insured firm, or a government agency, without being under the employment of the company, firm, or agency in question but has entered into a valid contract with the insurer or third-party firm.

(2) Independent adjusters either are hired through a third-party firm that specializes in handling claims or are self-employed entities. A licensed independent adjuster may be outsourced by an insurer to handle claims in this state.

(3) Independent adjusters are generally utilized for one of the following reasons:

- (a) to assist an insurer following a major catastrophe resulting in a manpower shortage to investigate and negotiate on its behalf;
- (b) for statutory reasons or to comply with provisions of an insurance contract;
- (c) to meet a need for special expertise; or
- (d) to deal with claims in remote areas.

B. Powers and responsibilities of independent adjusters. An independent adjuster shall have the powers granted by its principal to investigate, report upon, adjust and settle claims on behalf of an insurer or self-insurer and have additional powers as to claims and losses only as may be conferred by the principal.

C. Standards of conduct of independent adjusters. In addition to the general standards of conduct that apply to all adjusters as set forth in 13.4.8.14 NMAC, an independent adjuster shall also self-identify as an independent adjuster and, if applicable, identify the adjuster's employer when dealing with any policyholder or claimant.

D. Records of independent adjusters.

(1) Each independent adjuster shall keep at the business address shown on his license a record of all transactions under the license. The records shall include:

- (a) documents relating to all investigations or adjustments undertaken, and
- (b) a statement of any fee, commission or other compensation received or to be received by the adjuster on account of such investigation or adjustment.

(2) The adjuster shall make such records available for examination by the superintendent at all reasonable times, and shall retain records as to a particular investigation or adjustment for not less than three years after completion of such investigation or adjustment.

(3) Failure of a licensed independent adjuster, as determined by the superintendent after notice and an opportunity for a hearing, to properly maintain records in accordance with this section and make them available to the superintendent on request constitutes grounds for the suspension of the license.

[13.4.8.16 NMAC - N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]

13.4.8.17 POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF PUBLIC ADJUSTERS:

A. General authority. A licensed public adjuster may adjust claims on behalf of insured clients for property claims, both real and personal, including loss of income. Although business entities can be licensed as a both public and independent adjuster, an individual adjuster that is licensed as a public adjuster shall not be licensed additionally as either a staff or independent adjuster.

B. Standards of conduct. In addition to the general standards of conduct that apply to all adjusters as set forth in 13.4.8.14 NMAC, public adjusters shall also adhere to the following legal and ethical requirements:

(1) All contracts for the services of a public adjuster and required disclosures shall be executed in writing and shall comply with the specific requirements set forth in Section 59A-13-15 NMSA 1978. A sample contract and sample disclosure form, which may be used by a public adjuster, are available on the OSI website. Use of the sample contract and disclosure will be accepted by the superintendent as compliance with this requirement.

(2) A public adjuster shall serve with objectivity and complete loyalty in the interest of the public adjuster's client alone and shall render to the client such information, counsel and service as will best serve the client's insurance claim needs and interest.

(3) A public adjuster shall not solicit, or attempt to solicit, a client during the progress of a loss-producing occurrence, as defined in the client's insurance contract.

(4) Unless disclosed to the client in writing, a public adjuster shall not refer or direct the client to get needed repairs or services in connection with a loss from any person:

- (a) with whom the public adjuster has a financial interest; or
- (b) from whom the public adjuster may receive direct or indirect compensation for the referral.

(5) Unless disclosed to the client in writing, a public adjuster shall not accept any

compensation or anything of value in connection with a client's specific loss in exchange for the referral of a client to any third-party individual or firm, attorney, appraiser, umpire, construction company, contractor, or salvage company. Such disclosure shall include the source and amount of any such compensation.

(6) A public adjuster shall not agree to any settlement without the client's knowledge and consent.

(7) An individual public adjuster, while so licensed by the superintendent, shall not be licensed as a staff adjuster or an independent adjuster.

(8) The contract between the public adjuster and the client shall not be construed to prevent a client from pursuing any civil remedy after the three-business day revocation or cancellation period.

(9) A public adjuster shall not engage in the unauthorized practice of law.

C. Misrepresentation.

(1) A public adjuster shall not misrepresent to a claimant that he or she is an adjuster representing an insurer in any capacity, including acting as a staff adjuster employed by the insurer or acting as an independent adjuster.

(2) A public adjuster shall not make a misrepresentation, in violation of Insurance Code, to an insured or to an insurance company in the conduct of their actions as public adjusters.

D. Public adjuster fees.

(1) The public adjuster's contract shall disclose that the public adjuster is hired by and compensated by the insured to assist in preparation, presentation and settlement of the claim. The contract shall disclose that the public adjuster's fee or commission shall be paid by the insured from the proceeds of the settlement, and shall state whether the compensation is based on a percentage of the settlement.

(2) No public adjuster shall require, demand or accept any fee, retainer, compensation, deposit, or other thing of value prior to settlement of a claim and collection of money due to be paid by an insurance company. The public adjuster shall not collect the entire fee from the first check issued by an insurance company. Rather, the public adjuster's fees shall be paid as a percentage of each check issued by an insurance company.

(3) A public adjuster shall not pay a commission, service fee or other valuable consideration to a person for investigating or settling claims in this state if that person is required to be licensed pursuant to the Insurance Code and is not so licensed.

(4) A person shall not accept a commission, service fee or other valuable consideration for investigating or settling claims in this state if that person is required to be licensed pursuant to the Insurance Code and is not so licensed.

(5) In the event of a catastrophic disaster, there shall be limits on catastrophic fees that a public adjuster shall charge, agree to, or accept as compensation or reimbursement. Any payment, commission, fee, or other thing of value shall not exceed ten percent of any insurance settlement or proceeds.

E. Records of public adjusters. Records of public adjusters shall be maintained in compliance with Section 59A-13-17 NMSA 1978.

F. Fiduciary duties of public adjusters.

(1) **Escrow or trust accounts.** Public adjusters shall comply with the escrow and trust account requirements set forth in Section 59A-13-16 NMSA 1978.

(2) **Handling of funds.**

(a) All funds of others received by a public adjuster, including funds received as claim proceeds shall be received and held by the public adjuster in a fiduciary capacity. A public adjuster may not divert or appropriate fiduciary funds received or held. ~~[An adjuster who diverts or appropriates such funds for personal use or takes or secretes such funds with intent to embezzle without the consent of the person entitled to the funds is subject to fines and penalties set forth in the Insurance Code and is guilty of larceny.]~~

(b) Subject to the terms of any agreement between an adjuster and the adjuster's principal or obligee, each adjuster who does not make immediate remittance of funds to the insured or other person entitled to them shall elect and follow one of the following methods:

(i) forward insurance funds received (less applicable compensation, if any) to the insured or person entitled thereto within 15 days after receipt; or

(ii) establish and maintain one or more fiduciary bank accounts separate from accounts holding personal, firm or corporate funds, and promptly deposit and retain therein all funds of others pending transmittal to the insured or person thereto entitled.

(c) The following exceptions to the prohibition against commingling of funds shall apply:

(i) Funds belonging to more than one principal may be deposited and held in the same account so long as the amount held for each principal is readily ascertainable from the records of the

licensee.

(ii) A public adjuster may commingle with such fiduciary funds in a particular account such additional funds as the adjuster deems prudent for payment of claims or for other contingencies arising in the adjusting business.

(iii) A public adjuster may commingle with the adjuster own funds those funds of a particular principal who has expressly waived the segregation requirement in writing and in advance.

(iv) Permitted commingling of the funds of others with the adjuster's funds shall not alter the fiduciary duties of the adjuster as to the others' funds.

[13.4.8.17 NMAC - N, 7/1/2019; A, 04/01/2025]